## **RECEIVED**

11-30-2016

## CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2015AP0671-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEIMONTE ANTONIE WILSON, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, and an Order Denying a Postconviction Motion, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable William S. Pocan, Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026

JORGE R. FRAGOSO Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089114

#### **INTRODUCTION**

There are several statutes in Wisconsin that address the service of a subpoena. In particular, Wis. Stat. § 885.03, which expressly applies to criminal cases, provides that a subpoena can be served by simply "leaving such copy at a witness's abode."

In this case, in preparation for a suppression hearing, trial counsel requested that his investigator subpoena a witness. Trial counsel's investigator went to the witness's home and left a copy of the subpoena with the witness's daughter.

On the day of the suppression hearing, the witness sent a letter stating that she was not able to attend the hearing, as she was unable to get someone to cover her shift at work. Consequently, trial counsel requested an adjournment. The State initially did not take a position, and then requested a body attachment. Trial counsel subsequently agreed.

The circuit court denied the parties' request for a body attachment. Although characterizing the absent witness as a "key witness," the circuit court concluded that the subpoena was improperly served. The circuit court found that civil trial statutes, Wis. Stat. §§ 805.07(5) and 801.11(1)(b), require "reasonable diligence" before a subpoena is left at a witness's abode in criminal cases.

At issue in this case is the proper procedure to subpoena a witness in a criminal case. The resolution of this issue will impact the criminal justice system—courts, prosecutors, and defense attorneys across the state.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. In a criminal case, is a witness properly served when a subpoena is left at the witness's home pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 885.03?

The circuit court answered no, concluding that civil trial statutes, Wis. Stat. §§ 805.07(5) & 801.11(1)(b), apply to criminal cases and require "reasonable diligence" before a subpoena is left at a witness's home. The court of appeals affirmed.

2. Was trial counsel ineffective for: (1) failing to argue that a key witness was properly subpoenaed; or in the alternative, (2) failing to properly subpoena the witness?

The circuit court answered no, and the court of appeals affirmed.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed this case appropriate for both oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Wilson was charged with one count of possession with intent to deliver cocaine, second offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(cm)2 & 961.48(1)(b). (2:1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Wilson was previously convicted of possession with intent to deliver marijuana in Milwaukee County Case No. 10-CF-2202. (2:1).

According to the complaint, officers observed a truck parked in a vacant lot near a "No Trespassing" sign. (*Id.*). Officers saw Mr. Wilson get out of the truck and walk toward a "known drug house." Mr. Wilson reappeared "moments later" and walked back towards the truck. (2:1-2). Three officers approached the truck. (2:2). Mr. Wilson allegedly consented to a search of his person. (*Id.*). Police found cocaine and cash on him. (*Id.*).

#### Motion to Suppress

Trial counsel filed a suppression motion arguing that there was no basis for the stop, and Mr. Wilson did not give consent to search. (5). In response, the State argued that the officers' initial contact with Mr. Wilson was consensual, reasonable suspicion existed to stop him, and he gave consent to search. (7).

A hearing was held before the Honorable William S. Pocan. (37). Officer William Savagian testified in pertinent part that he did not have his gun drawn when approaching the truck and Mr. Wilson consented to a search. (*See*, *e.g.*, 37:24, 36; App. 138, 150).

After Officer Savagian testified, trial counsel informed the court he had subpoenaed a witness, Jacqueline Brown, but she failed to appear. (37:46; App. 160). Trial counsel stated:

She indicated to me she was at work and she was unable to get someone to cover her shift. The witness who did show up [Ms. Brown's son Darryl Roberts] brought us a letter from [Ms. Brown] indicating that she wasn't going to be able to attend today. My impression is, is that she's a necessary witness since there's some dispute here as to the conditions surrounding the stop. We do have a proper subpoena. I have an affidavit of service. I just am informing the court of this. I can call my one witness

now. We may need to address the question of how to proceed.

(*Id.*).

The circuit court responded that "[w]e will see" and requested testimony be taken from the next witness, Darryl Roberts, Ms. Brown's son, who was also sitting in the truck. (37:46-47, 52; App. 160-61, 166). Mr. Roberts testified that two male "[o]fficers arrive[d] with their guns out." (37:50, 55-57; App. 164, 169-71). The black male officer opened the door, grabbed Mr. Roberts' arm, and pulled him out of the truck. (37:58-59; App. 172-73). Mr. Roberts testified he was searched immediately. (37:59; App. 173).

After Mr. Roberts testified, trial counsel sought an adjournment to take testimony from Ms. Brown. (37:67; App. 181). Trial counsel stated that Ms. Brown "was at the residence at the time that the police came to what is essentially the back of her residence." (37:66; App. 180). Trial counsel anticipated Ms. Brown would testify that she observed the officers "with guns drawn approach the vehicle and take both [Mr. Wilson] and [Mr. Roberts] out of the vehicle." (*Id.*). Trial counsel further stated that:

When she hadn't shown up . . . I called the number I had for her. I got through to her. She indicated to me she was at work, that she couldn't find anybody to cover her shift, and that she wasn't able to get here today. I did – I would note I was handed a letter by Mr. Roberts, the gentleman who just testified, from his mom . . . . she's indicating that she had – it sounded like it was more a difficulty of getting here because of work.

(37:66-67; App. 180-81). The State initially did not take a position. (37:67-68; App. 181-82). The court responded:

The issue is, is do we need to give her – do we need to have a body attachment and have her brought to continue this hearing. Because that's what it's going to be is a body attachment. I'm not going to – if I'm going to set another date, she's going to be picked up with a warrant because it's just the way it is. I'm not going to set another date and then hope that this time she decides to come. And but the issue is, is that something that we have to do or is that something that given her failure to be here today we can proceed without her?

\*\*\*

It does seem to be the issue in this case. I don't really see any other issues. At the end of the day, based on the testimony I've heard, all this testimony about why they were there and et cetera, who cares. Not relevant. As a matter – they saw what was going on here. They told us that this is a known drug house. They were – they saw this vehicle. It looked suspicious to them. They walk up to the vehicle. If they walked up to the vehicle like this officer indicated, then your side wins, [State]. As a practical matter if they came to the vehicle with guns ablaze, then we have a different issue because then the people in the car could have felt they were under arrest or - and didn't have any choice other than to be searched. So it's a key issue. It would seem to me it's the only key issue of all the testimony I've heard here today, but you tell me. What's your position?

(37:68-69; App. 182-83) (emphasis added). The State then requested a body attachment. (37:69; App. 183).

As an alternative to a body attachment, trial counsel proposed having Ms. Brown testify by phone, but the State objected. (37:69-70; App. 183-84). Trial counsel then agreed with the State that a body attachment should be ordered. (37:70; App. 184). Trial counsel noted that "the affidavit of service indicates that [Ms. Brown] was served through her

daughter who is a resident of that address on October 22<sup>nd</sup> at 4:10 p.m."<sup>2</sup> (37:71; 20:13, 14; App. 185, 247, 248). Thus, Ms. Brown received notice of the hearing approximately 42 days in advance.

The court looked at the subpoena and concluded that there was not "valid service." The court denied the request for a body attachment. The following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: It looks like it was only served once and it was served by substituted service, and of course under Wisconsin law, you have to attempt on a couple of occasions and make reasonable efforts before you can serve by substituted service. So it may be a situation here where this is not a valid service, and if so, then we have a different issue . . . .

Usually what I'm used to before there's a substituted service is down on the bottom – and on this one it has a place for attempts – it would indicate the other attempts at personal service because of course they couldn't serve her – serve her by substituted unless they did that. So do you have – do you believe I'm wrong on the law?

TRIAL COUNSEL: I don't have any reason to challenge the court on the law.

THE COURT: [State], do you believe I'm wrong on the law?

THE STATE: No. I believe you are correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. And so the problem that I have here is that this is not a valid subpoena and I could not issue a body attachment based on this subpoena. So therefore given that your witness isn't here, I think we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The affidavit of service also indicates that the investigator verified Ms. Brown's daughter "was of legal age to receive this document and resides at the same address." (20:14; App. 248).

have to – there's nothing that I can do to assist you today. . . .

(37:71-73; App. 185-87).

Subsequently, Mr. Wilson opted to exercise his right to testify. He testified in pertinent part that three officers ran up with their guns drawn. (*See, e.g.,* 37:77; App. 191). At the time, he did not know they were officers and "was scared. I thought that, you know, we was, you know, under attack." (37:77-78; App. 191-92). He raised his arms and got out of the car because he thought that "they were going to shoot." (*See, e.g.,* 37:78-80, 82; App. 192-94, 196). Mr. Wilson felt that he had no choice but to let the officer search him. (37:81; App. 195). Mr. Wilson testified that:

[The officer] had his gun and then he just start patting on me. And I'm looking dead at the gun. I'm like – 'cause I'm scared. I'm like, oh, man, what's going on. He patting on me. And then he asked me where was I coming from. I say I was coming from my father's house. And he asked me am I on probation. I said, yes, I'm on probation. And then he asked me for what. I said for drugs. But I was kind of stuttering at the time. And I know when I get scared, I stutter, you know. And I really didn't say anything after that, you know, because the gun was still pointed at me while he was patting me.

(See, e.g., 37:80-81; App. 194-95).

In rebuttal, the State called Officer James Hunter and Officer Savagian. Both officers denied having guns out. (37:101, 106; App. 215, 220).

The circuit court denied the motion to suppress, finding that reasonable suspicion existed for the stop and that the search was consensual. (37:126-27; App. 240-41). The court found Officer Savagian and Officer Hunter more

credible regarding the "gun situation" than Mr. Roberts and Mr. Wilson. (37:124-25; App. 238-39). The court noted that Mr. Roberts testified there were three officers, but only two male officers had their guns out. (37:121; App. 235). In comparison, Mr. Wilson testified that all three officers had their guns out. (37:122; App. 236). The circuit court also questioned some of the testimony, such as Mr. Wilson's assertion that the officer searched him while pointing a gun at him. (37:123-24; App. 237-38). In addition, the court noted that Mr. Wilson had a prior record and a "vested interest" in the case. (37:126-27; App. 240-41). Regarding the absence of Ms. Brown, the court stated:

And also I couldn't help but wonder at this point that even if Ms. Brown – even if we – she had appeared or even if there had been a valid subpoena that I could take some action on, whether her testimony would really help. Because it would be one thing if both Mr. Roberts and Mr. Wilson had testified totally consistently, but they didn't. So it – either she would be backing one or the other or maybe providing yet an additional explanation. So I don't see at the end of the day how that would have assisted the court or assisted Mr. Wilson with his motion. It's unfortunate that she chose not be here, but – because we know she got the subpoena, but because there's not proper service, I couldn't enforce it.

So at the end of the day, as I indicated, the gun issue was the most significant to the Court . . . .

(37:125; App. 239).

#### Plea and Sentencing

Mr. Wilson entered a guilty plea to possession with intent to deliver cocaine without the second or subsequent enhancer.<sup>3</sup> (38:5, 9). The Honorable William S. Pocan imposed a five-year prison sentence (three years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision) consecutive to any other sentence. (38:44).

#### Appeal

Mr. Wilson filed a postconviction motion asserting that the circuit court erred when it denied trial counsel's requests to adjourn the hearing and issue a body attachment. (20:7-8). The motion also asserted that trial counsel was ineffective for: (1) failing to argue that Ms. Brown was properly subpoenaed; or in the alternative, (2) failing to properly subpoena Ms. Brown. (20:8-11). After briefing, the Honorable William S. Pocan denied the postconviction motion without a hearing. (30; App. 111-114).

The court of appeals affirmed, concluding that Wis. Stat. §§ 805.07(5) and 801.11(1)(b) apply to criminal cases and require reasonable diligence before a subpoena can be left at a witness's home. *State v. Keimonte Antonie Wilson*, *Sr.*, No. 2015AP0671-CR, slip op., ¶¶ 9, 11 (July 6, 2016) (unpublished) (App. 101-110). The court of appeals assumed that trial counsel was deficient for failing to properly subpoena Ms. Brown; however, it found that there was no prejudice. *Id.*, ¶¶ 14, 24-25 (App. 107, 109-10).

In a footnote, the court of appeals acknowledged that "[t]here is perhaps an inherent conflict" between Wis. Stat. § 885.03, which "seemingly allows service of a subpoena simply by 'leaving [a] copy at the witness's abode" and "imposing the stricter Wis. Stat. § 801.11 requirement of reasonable diligence . . ." *Wilson*, slip op., ¶ 9 n. 2 (App. 105). The court of appeals then stated:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The judgment of conviction incorrectly lists the enhancer. (12).

However, it is arguable that, given § 801.11(1)(b)1.-1m., to leave a copy of a subpoena means leaving it with another person—i.e., substitute service. However, we need not resolve this discrepancy because Wilson did not simply leave the subpoena at Brown's home; he served a substitute.

#### Id.

Mr. Wilson filed a petition for review of the decision of the court of appeals, which this Court granted on October 11, 2016.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. In a Criminal Case, a Witness Is Properly Served When a Copy of the Subpoena Is Left at the Witness's Home Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 885.03.
  - A. Principles of Statutory Interpretation.

The purpose of statutory interpretation is to "determine what a statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. When interpreting a statute, the language of the statute is examined first. Id. ¶ 45 (citations omitted). The language of a statute should be given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially defined words are given their technical or special definitions. Id. In addition, statutory language is examined in the context it is used, not in isolation. Id. ¶ 46.

If the words chosen by the legislature demonstrate a "plain, clear statutory meaning," no further analysis is undertaken. *Id*. However, statutory language is ambiguous if it can be understood "by reasonably well-informed persons in

two or more senses." *Id.* ¶ 47. If a statute is ambiguous, extrinsic sources, such as legislative history, may be applied to the statutory text. *Id.* ¶¶ 48-51.

Statutory interpretation, or the application of a statute to a known set of facts, presents a question of law that appellate courts review without deference to the circuit courts. *State v. Parent*, 2006 WI 132, ¶ 15, 298 Wis. 2d 63, 725 N.W.2d 915.

- B. Wis. Stat. § 885.03 governs the service of a witness subpoena in a criminal case.
  - 1. Wis. Stat. § 885.03 expressly applies to criminal cases.

Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) explicitly states that Wisconsin Chapter 885 "*shall* apply in all criminal proceedings." (emphasis added). Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) provides:

Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) (emphases added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Wisconsin Chapter 804 is titled "Civil Procedure—Depositions and Discovery." Wis. Stat. §§ 804.02 to 804.07 address depositions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Wisconsin Chapter 887 is titled "Depositions, Oaths and Affidavits." Wis. Stat. §§ 887.23 to 887.26 address depositions and witnesses sent to other states.

Chapter 885 regulates subpoena practice, including who may issue a subpoena and the form of a subpoena. Wis. Stat. §§ 885.01-02. If a witness fails to attend a proceeding, the witness may be responsible for damages, costs, punished by fine, or the court may issue an "attachment." Wis. Stat. § 885.11.

Additionally, Wis. Stat. § 885.03 provides several different ways to serve a witness<sup>7</sup> with a subpoena:

#### Chapter 885 Witness and Oral Testimony

885.03 Service of subpoena. Any subpoena may be served by any person by exhibiting and reading it to the witness, <u>or</u> by giving the witness a copy thereof, <u>or</u> by leaving such copy at the witness's abode.

Wis. Stat. § 885.03 (emphases added). Thus, a subpoena can be served by: (1) exhibiting and reading it to the witness; (2) giving the witness a copy; *or* (3) leaving a copy at the witness's abode.

Consequently, in this case, it was proper for trial counsel's investigator to leave a subpoena at Ms. Brown's residence with her daughter pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 885.03.

In a criminal case, courts have the additional power to compel attendance by the issuance of a bench warrant for the failure to appear. Wis. Stat. § 968.09. And, in a felony case, if a witness's testimony is "material," and it is "impracticable" to secure the witness's presence by subpoena, the judge may require such person to give bail for the person's appearance as a witness. Wis. Stat. § 969.01(3). If the witness is not in court, a warrant for the person's arrest may be issued. *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There is a specific criminal statute that compels or commands a criminal defendant to come to court. Wis. Stat. § 968.04 discusses "warrants" and "summons on a complaint."

Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) states that Chapter 885 applies to "all criminal proceedings" and Wis. Stat. § 885.03 plainly states that a copy of a subpoena can be left at a witness's abode, such as Ms. Brown's home. *See generally, State v. King*, 2005 WI App 224, ¶ 16, 287 Wis. 2d 756, 706 N.W.2d 181 (concluding that a subpoena should have been served in a criminal case and citing Wis. Stat. § 885.03).

2. If statutes conflict, the more specific statute, in this case Wis. Stat. § 885.03, governs.

Despite the specific application of Wis. Stat. § 885.03 to criminal cases, the court of appeals in this case concluded two different statutes—Wis. Stat. §§ 805.07(5) & 801.11(1)(b)—apply. *Wilson*, slip op., ¶¶ 9, 11 (App. 105-06). Wis. Stat. § 805.07(5) provides:

Chapter 805
Civil Procedure—Trials

805.07 Subpoena.

(5) SUBSTITUTED SERVICE. A subpoena may be served in the manner provided in s. 885.03 except that substituted personal service may be made only as provided in s. 801.11 (1) (b) and except that officers, directors, and managing agents of public or private corporations or limited liability companies subpoenaed in their official capacity may be served as provided in s. 801.11 (5) (a).

(Emphasis added).

Wis. Stat. § 801.11(1)(b), which is incorporated by reference in Wis. Stat. § 805.07(5), requires a party to exercise "reasonable diligence" before leaving a summons at a witness's abode. Wis. Stat. § 801.11(1)(b) provides:

#### Chapter 801

Civil Procedure—Commencement of Action and Venue

Wis. Stat. § 801.11 Personal jurisdiction, manner of serving summons for. A court of this state having jurisdiction of the subject matter and grounds for personal jurisdiction as provided in 801.05 may exercise personal jurisdiction over a defendant by service of a summons as follows:

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