#### RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-28-2016**

## IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2015AP671-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEIMONTE ANTONIE WILSON, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION, BOTH ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM S. POCAN, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1013313

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Summary of the issues.

This case presents two issues: first, a statutory-construction issue concerning whether (as Wilson contends) a single statute — Wis. Stat. § 885.03 — governs service of witness subpoenas in criminal cases, or whether (as the State contends) two other statutes — Wis. Stat. § 801.11 and Wis. Stat. § 805.07 — also govern service of witness subpoenas in criminal cases; second, whether Wilson's trial lawyer provided ineffective assistance (a) by failing to argue that he properly subpoenaed a witness to attend the evidentiary hearing on Wilson's suppression motion or (b) by failing to properly subpoena a witness to attend the evidentiary hearing on the motion.

#### II. Summary of facts.

The circuit court determined that Wilson did not properly serve the subpoena on Jacqueline A. Brown, the mother of Wilson's girlfriend (36:4; 37:47) and of Darryl Roberts (36:4; 37:66-67), Wilson's companion at the time of Wilson's arrest (37:47)). Substituted personal service on Brown occurred via Jacqueline Laquita A. Jacqueline Brown's daughter and Roberts's half-sister. (20:14; 36:4; 37:71.) The affidavit of service indicated only one attempt to serve the subpoena: the attempt that resulted in service on Laquita Brown. The affidavit included spaces for indicating other service attempts, but those spaces remained blank. (20:14; see also 37:72 (circuit court noting the spaces on the affidavit).) The court said that "[i]t looks like [the subpoena] was only served once and it was served by substituted service, and of course under Wisconsin law,

you have to attempt on a couple of occasions and make reasonable efforts before you can serve by substituted service." (37:71.) When asked by the court whether they disagreed with the court's understanding of the law, both defense counsel and the prosecutor replied that they did not disagree. (37:72.) The court concluded that because the affidavit did not indicate more than one effort to serve Jacqueline Brown before the server made substituted personal service, "this is not a valid subpoena." (37:72.) The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision.

- III. The Wisconsin Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Milwaukee County Circuit Court's decision declaring, after reconciling applicable statutes, that Wilson had not properly subpoenaed a witness who failed to appear at the hearing on Wilson's suppression motion.
  - A. Section 972.11 makes three service-ofprocess statutes applicable in criminal cases.

Section 972.11(1) provides that "the rules of evidence and practice in civil actions *shall be applicable* in all criminal proceedings unless the context of a section or rule *manifestly requires* a different construction. . . . Chapter[] 885 . . . shall apply in all criminal proceedings." *See also State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 8, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611. Because of section 972.11(1), section 805.07 — a civil-action procedure for issuing and serving a subpoena — also applies in criminal cases. *Id.*<sup>2</sup> Section 805.07, in turn,

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Without section 972.11(1), Wisconsin criminal procedure would not provide a mechanism for subpoening witnesses: the statutory chapters specifically governing procedures in criminal cases — Chapters 967 to 979, see Wis. Stat. § 967.01 — do not provide procedures for subpoenas of witnesses. Section 968.135

specifies that "[s]ubpoenas shall be issued and served in accordance with ch. 885." Section 805.07 also specifies that "[a] subpoena may be served in the manner provided in s. 885.03 except that substituted personal service<sup>[3]</sup> may be made only as provided in s. 801.11 (1) (b)." Wis. Stat. § 805.07(5) (footnote added). Section 801.11(1)(b) provides that

[i]f with reasonable diligence the defendant cannot be served under par. (a),<sup>[4]</sup> then by leaving a copy of the summons at the defendant's usual place of abode: 1. In the presence of some competent member of the family at least 14 years of age, who shall be informed of the contents thereof[.]

#### Wis. Stat. § 801.11(1)(b) (footnote added).

Consequently, contrary to Wilson's contention that only section 885.03 governs service of witness subpoenas in criminal cases (Wilson's Br. at 11-13), section 972.11(1) and *Popenhagen* make clear that section 805.07 and, derivatively, section 801.11(1)(b), also apply.

delineates the procedure for subpoenas "requiring the production of documents," not for subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Black's Law Dictionary defines "substituted service" as "[a]ny method of service allowed by law in place of personal service, such as service by mail," with "constructive service" as an alternative term. Substituted Service, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Black's defines "personal service" as "[a]ctual delivery of the notice or process to the person to whom it is directed." Personal Service, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Finally, Black's defines "constructive service" as "[s]ervice accomplished by a method or circumstance that does not give actual notice." Constructive Service, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 801.11(1)(a) provides for accomplishing service "[b]y personally serving the summons upon the defendant either within or without this state."

B. The explicit listing of Chapter 885 in Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) as applicable "in all criminal proceedings" does not hold any legal significance in determining which statute controls the efficacy of service of a subpoena by substituted service in a criminal case.

The State agrees with Wilson that when statutes conflict, the more specific statute controls. *See* Wilson's Br. at 13-17. In addition, the State agrees that, as stated in section 972.11(1), civil rules of evidence and practice do not apply when "the context of a section or rule manifestly requires a . . . construction" that precludes application in a criminal case. *See id.* at 17-20.

The State disagrees, however, that the statutes conflict here, that section 885.03 qualifies as the more specific statute, and that the context of the civil sections or rules "manifestly require[] a ... construction" precluding application in this case.

Wilson writes that "Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) explicitly states that Wisconsin Chapter 885 'shall apply in all criminal proceedings.' (emphasis added)." (Wilson's Br. at 11.) He appears to infer that because section 972.11(1) refers explicitly to chapter 885 but not to sections 805.07 and 801.11(1)(b), chapter 885 necessarily controls for purposes of determining the efficacy of service of a witness subpoena in a criminal case. (Wilson's Br. at 11-13.)

The explicit reference to chapter 885 occurs for an obvious reason: if the third sentence in section 972.11(1) did not refer explicitly to chapter 885 (and to the other chapters listed in that sentence), those chapters would not have applied in criminal cases. The first sentence in section 972.11(1) explicitly applied "the rules of evidence and practice in civil actions . . . in *all criminal proceedings* unless

the context of a section or rule manifestly requires a different construction." Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1) (emphasis added). The civil procedure rules appear in chapters 801 through 847. See Wis. Stat. § 801.01(2) ("Chapters 801 to 847 govern procedure and practice in circuit courts of this state in all civil actions and special proceedings whether cognizable as cases at law, in equity or of statutory origin except where different procedure is prescribed by statute or rule."). The evidence rules appear in chapters 901 to 911. See Wis. Stat. § 901.01 ("Chapters 901 to 911 govern proceedings in the courts of the state of Wisconsin except as provided in ss. 911.01 and 972.11."). Neither the rules of civil procedure nor the rules of evidence include chapters 885 to 895 and chapter 995. Consequently, to make those chapters applicable, the legislature needed to list them specifically. The legislature did not need to do so for the specific rules of civil procedure and evidence because those rules appeared in statutorily identified sequences of statutory chapters.

In effect, in accord with section 972.11(1), unless "the context of a section or rule manifestly requires a different construction," civil procedure rules in sections 805.07 and 801.11(1)(b) apply in "all criminal proceedings" on an equal footing with section 885.03.

C. The context of Wis. Stat. §§ 801.11(1)(b) and 805.07 does not "manifestly require[]" precluding those statutes from applying in this case.

Wilson asserts that the context of section 805.07(5) — the statute specifically addressing "substituted service" — shows it does not apply to criminal proceedings. (Wilson's Br. at 17-20.) Specifically, he argues that "an examination of the language *within* Wis. Stat. § 805.07 reflects that it is civil in nature" (Wilson's Br. at 18) and that "an examination

of the surrounding statutes also reflect that Wis. Stat. § 805.07(5) is civil in nature" (*id.* at 19).

1. The language within section 805.07 does not "manifestly require[]" that section 805.07(5) not apply in criminal proceedings.

In arguing that section 805.07(5) can apply to civil actions only, Wilson quotes the second sentence of the section as proof of its exclusively civil nature: "A subpoena may also be issued by any attorney of record in a civil action or special proceeding to compel attendance of witnesses for deposition, hearing or trial in the action or special proceeding." (Wilson's Br. at 18.) But in advancing that argument, Wilson ignores a critical point. Specifically, he ignores the first sentence of the statute: "Subpoenas shall be issued and served in accordance with ch. 885." By incorporating the whole of Chapter 885, section 805.07(5) expanded the universe of persons and entities authorized to issue subpoenas while simultaneously expanding the types of proceedings beyond civil proceedings only.

For example, section 885.01 permits a broad universe of persons and agencies to issue subpoenas. None of those persons and agencies include "any attorney of record in a civil action or special proceeding." But that universe does include "the attorney general or any district attorney," who may issue subpoenas "to require the attendance of witnesses, in behalf of the state, in any court or before any magistrate and from any part of the state." Wis. Stat. § 885.01(2). The section does not limit subpoenas to appearances in only civil proceedings.

Similarly, section 885.01(1) authorizes issuance of a subpoena

[b]y any judge or clerk of a court or court commissioner or municipal judge, within the territory in which the officer or the court of which he or she is the officer has jurisdiction, to require the attendance of witnesses and their production of lawful instruments of evidence in any action, matter or proceeding pending or to be examined into before any court, magistrate, officer, arbitrator, board, committee or other person authorized to take testimony in the state.

Again, none of those officials and agencies include "any attorney of record in a civil action or special proceeding," nor does the statute confine those officials' or agencies' authority to civil cases.

In short, by incorporating the whole of chapter 885, the first sentence in section 805.07(1) recognized that a wide array of a officials and agencies could issue subpoenas for witnesses to attend civil, criminal, and administrative proceedings — but none of those officials and agencies included "any attorney of record in a civil action or special proceeding." The second sentence of section 805.07(1) thus broadens the category of persons allowed to issue subpoenas for witnesses while restricting that authority to a narrow class of proceedings. If anything, rather than demonstrating the primarily civil nature of section 805.07(5), the context of the second sentence reinforces the view, evident from the sentence, that section 805.07(5) applies when subpoenaing witnesses in a criminal case.

Wilson's reliance on *State v. Schaefer*, 2008 WI 25, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 746 N.W.2d 457, does not change the analysis. *Schaefer* "is a discovery case, notwithstanding the defendant's protestations to the contrary. Schaefer's appeal asks this court to approve the subpoena power to effect discovery in a criminal case prior to the preliminary examination." *Id.* ¶ 18. *See also id.* ¶ 1 (characterizing the document as "a subpoena duces tecum"). This Court did not need to consider — and did not consider — the applicability

or scope of the authority of a defendant to subpoena witnesses under section 885.03 or sections 805.07(5) and 801.11(1)(b).<sup>5</sup>

Similarly, other cases on which Wilson relies do not help him. (Wilson's Br. at 17-18.) State v. Hyndman, 170 Wis. 2d 198, 488 N.W.2d 11 (Ct. App. 1992), concerned a defendant's effort, via section 972.11(1), to obtain a summary judgment under Wis. Stat. § 802.08(1) dismissing the criminal complaint. Hyndman, 170 Wis. 2d at 203 (Hyndman filed "a motion for summary disposition on the grounds of outrageous governmental conduct"); id. at 204 ("Hyndman argues that his dismissal motion should be treated as a motion for summary judgment as provided by sec. 802.08, Stats. (summary judgment)."). For two reasons, the court of appeals rejected Hyndman's arguments. First, the facts would not have allowed summary judgment:

A defendant who pleads "not guilty" to the charges set forth in the Information, sec. 971.01, Stats. (filing of the information), denies the charges, thereby requiring the State to prove every element of the charged offense(s). See Wis J I-Criminal 110. A plea of "not guilty" creates material issues of fact for the trier of fact to decide. Summary judgment lies only when no material issues of fact exist and a party, as a matter of law, is entitled to judgment. Section 802.08(2), Stats.

*Id.* at 205. "Hyndman entered a plea of 'not guilty,' thus creating issues of fact to be determined at trial." *Id.* 

Second, the summary-judgment statute manifestly did not apply in criminal cases. "The context of sec. 802.08(1) manifestly requires that it not be applied to criminal actions. The words 'summons ... scheduling order ... claim,

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This Court did not cite section 885.03, section 805.07(5), or section 801.11(1)(b).

counterclaim, cross-claim or 3rd party claim' are foreign to criminal pleadings and procedure and are solely within the domain of civil law." *Id.* at 206 (alteration in original). "In addition, summary judgment time constraints are entirely inconsistent with time constraints provided by statute for criminal proceedings." *Id.* at 207.

In short, unlike the subpoena statutes at issue here, the summary-judgment statute at issue in *Hyndman* did not have *any* role outside of civil proceedings.

Wilson's reliance on *State v. Henley*, 2010 WI 97, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350, does not fare any better. *Henley* concerned "whether and when certain provisions governing civil procedure in Wisconsin may be utilized by a convicted criminal defendant seeking a new trial." Id. ¶ 4. Specifically, this Court considered two questions relating to this issue:

- 1. May a circuit court award a new trial to a convicted criminal defendant in the interest of justice under Wis. Stat. § 805.15(1)? Relatedly, is such a challenge subject to the time limitations contained in Wis. Stat. § 805.16(1), or may a convicted criminal defendant file a motion for a new trial under § 805.15(1) at any time?
- 2. May a circuit court award a new trial to a convicted criminal defendant in the interest of justice under Wis. Stat. § 806.07(1)(g) or (h)?

Id.

This Court answered the first question negatively:

We agree with the [amicus] State Public Defender that § 805.15(1) does not provide statutory grounds for a criminal defendant to seek a new trial in the interest of justice. We reach this conclusion because: (1) the text of § 805.15(1) suggests that it applies to civil cases only; (2) the text of § 805.16(1) suggests that the 20-day time limit applies to motions under § 805.15(1), but such a time limit is

absurd in the criminal context; (3) §§ 974.02 and 974.06, by their terms, provide the primary statutory means of postconviction, appeal, and post-appeal relief for criminal defendants, and allowing motions under § 805.15(1) renders these provisions irrelevant; and (4) the statutory history of §§ 805.15, 805.16, and 974.02 reveal that §§ 805.15(1) and 805.16(1) do not apply to criminal cases.

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